RECEIVED
02-12-2020
CLERK OF SUPREME COURT
OF WISCONSIN

# STATE OF WISCONSIN IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2018AP000319-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

TIMOTHY E. DOBBS,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

On Review of a Decision of the Court of Appeals, District IV, Affirming a Judgement of Conviction Entered in the Circuit Court for Dane County, The Honorable Clayton Kawski, Presiding

# BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER

Community Justice, Inc. Attorney Michael D. Rosenberg State Bar #1001450 Attorney for Appellant-Petitioner

## **

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

(1) Did the trial court err in precluding defense expert witness Dr. Lawrence T. White from testifying where, consistent with State v. Smith, 2016 WI App 8, 366 Wis. 2d 613, 874 N.W.2d 610, his opinions were relevant to a material issue, but he would not be offering an opinion on the specific facts of the case?

The trial court ruled that Dr. White's proposed testimony would not assist the trier of fact because he was not offering an opinion on the specific facts of the case, and therefore precluded him from testifying. The Court of Appeals held that the trial court properly exercised its discretion in excluding the testimony.

(2) Whether the Court of Appeals' decision is consistent with State v. Morgan, 2002 WI App 124, 254 Wis. 2d 602, 648 N.W.2d 23, and if not, whether *Morgan* should be overruled.

The Court of Appeals did not address *Morgan*. Nor is its opinion consistent with the holding in Morgan or other case law on when a person is in custody for purposes of Miranda. Morgan on the other hand is entirely consistent with said case law from both the United States Supreme Court and from this Court. Therefore it should not be overruled.

(3) Did the trial court err in allowing Mr. Dobbs' statements to law enforcement into evidence despite the delay in reading him his Miranda rights and because his statements were involuntary due to his mental and physical conditions?

The trial court denied the Defense motion to suppress and held that the statements were admissible. The Court of Appeals held that the trial court did not err in allowing the statements into evidence.

### STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND **PUBLICATION**

Pursuant to this Court's general practice and due to the issues in this case, it is appropriate for oral argument and publication.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a judgment of conviction entered on June 2, 2017 in Dane County, The Honorable Clayton Kawski presiding, following a jury trial and guilty verdict by the jury on March 24, 2017. (R.241.) The Circuit Court convicted Mr. Dobbs of Homicide by Intoxicated Use of a Vehicle, in violation of Wis. Stat. § 940.09(1)(a). (*Id.*)

By a criminal complaint filed on September 10, 2015, the State charged Timothy Dobbs with one count of Homicide by Intoxicated Use of a Vehicle, in violation of Wis. Stat. § 940.09(1)(a); and one count of Hit and Run—Resulting in Death, in violation of Wis. Stat. §§ 346.67(1) and 346.74(5)(d). (R.2.) The case was tried to a jury from March 20, 2017 until March 24, 2017. (R.266-270.) The jury returned a verdict of guilty on the first count (homicide), but not guilty on the second count (hit and run). (R.225.)

Mr. Dobbs timely filed a Notice of Intent to Pursue Post-Conviction Relief on June 19, 2017 (R.244) and a Notice of Appeal on February 12, 2018 (R.246). On May 2, 2019, the Court of Appeals issued a decision affirming the Circuit (P-App. 101-06.) This Court granted review on January 14, 2020.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

This case arises out of a vehicle-pedestrian accident on the morning of September 5, 2015 on the east side of Madison. (R.2:2.) Mr. Dobbs was driving on Nakoosa Trail near the Walmart, when according to a witness he crossed over to the wrong side of the street, went up over the curb and

hit ACM, and then drove away from the accident scene. (R.266:212-215, 224.) Officer Jimmy Milton of the City of Madison Police Department responded to a call at 7:23 a.m. about the accident. (R.267:64-66.) As he approached the intersection of Highway 51 and Commercial Avenue (a few blocks from the accident site), he noticed a vehicle stopped at the light that appeared to match the vehicle in the call. (R.267:67.) The vehicle was stopped in traffic with apparent damage, including a flat front driver's side tire. (R.267:73.) Based on the information from the call, he suspected that it was the hit and run vehicle from the accident to which he was responding. (R.253:6-7.)

On approaching the vehicle, Officer Milton noticed that Mr. Dobbs, the driver, was trying to remove a splint that he had on his right hand and arm. (R.267:77.) Officer Milton testified that Mr. Dobbs also had a white bandage on his hand and it was obviously injured. (R.267:79-80.) Officer Milton told him that he was being detained, handcuffed him, and put him in his squad car. (R.267:77, 81.) This then began more than a day of questioning, hospital visits, and testing of Mr. Dobbs, who initially remained in the back of the squad car about an hour before Officer Milton took him out to perform field sobriety tests. (R.267:115.) These events were the subject of pre-trial motions described below.

Officer Milton testified that he saw no signs of impairment, no slurred speech, and nothing unusual in how Mr. Dobbs walked. (R.267:208.) He did, however, notice a can of compressed air in the driver's console. (R.267:93-94.) Officer Milton decided to have Mr. Dobbs perform field sobriety tests to determine if he was impaired. (R.267:103.) Mr. Dobbs was cooperative and agreed to do the tests. Based on field sobriety tests and a (R.267:114-15.) preliminary breath test, Officer Milton concluded that he was not impaired, and despite detaining Mr. Dobbs he did not arrest him. (R.267:145-46.) However, Officer Milton still suspected that Mr. Dobbs was under the influence of an inhalant chemical and therefore arranged to have a drug

recognition ("DRE") Mr. expert examine Dobbs. (R.267:145-46.) He also still suspected —indeed knew—that Mr. Dobbs illegally fled the scene of an accident. (R.253:8, 10; R.267:77.) He asked Mr. Dobbs to submit to a blood test, put him back in the squad car, and transported him to Meriter Hospital. (R.267:146-47.) At the hospital Officer Milton read the "Informing the Accused" to Mr. Dobbs who agreed to the blood draw if he could also do a breathalyzer. (R.267:148-49.)

At the hospital, Nicholas Pine, the police DRE, put Mr. Dobbs through further testing. (R.269:37-39.) testing and examination, Officer Pine concluded that Mr. Dobbs was impaired from cannabis use. (R.269:71, 79-80.) Officer Pine specifically ruled out Mr. Dobbs being impaired from an inhalant as Officer Milton believed. (R.269:180-82.) Officer Pine continued to believe that Mr. Dobbs was impaired from cannabis even after the blood test results (from the blood draw prior to the exam) showed that Mr. Dobbs had no Delta-9 THC, the active THC metabolite, in his system. (R.269:101, 117-18.) The only THC metabolite in Mr. Dobbs system was Carboxy THC. (R.218; R.269:177-78.) The State's expert agreed that Carboxy THC is not an active substance and has no effect on a person—it simply means that sometime in the past the person had ingested THC.<sup>1</sup> (R.269:178-80.)

Contrary to Officer Pine's conclusion impairment from cannabis, the State presented Amy Miles from the State Crime Lab to opine that Mr. Dobbs was under the influence of inhalants. (R.269:122.) However, there were issues with her testing. The first test only showed a peak

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> This is consistent with Wisconsin statutory law. Wis. Stat. § 340.01(50m) defines "restricted controlled substance" as "[a] controlled substance included in schedule I under ch. 961 other than a tetrahydrocannabinol" and then specifically includes only Delta-9tetrahydrocannabinol in the definition for a "restricted controlled substance."

reading where a volatile from an inhalant might be expected, but is not conclusive proof of its presence; because the lab did not do a confirmatory test until twenty-five days later, there was no evidence of a volatile on the confirmatory test. (R.269:218-21.) She did admit that the Carboxy THC metabolite was not impairing and could not say when Mr. Dobbs last used marijuana. (R.269:177-80, 226-27.)

In closing argument the State focused on the inhalant as causing Mr. Dobbs' impairment and the accident. (R.270:196, 208, 221-25.) The State led off its closing by quoting Mr. Dobbs: "I took a puff off a duster, and I killed a man." (R.270:196.) The jury returned a guilty verdict on the charge of homicide by intoxicated use of a vehicle, but not guilty on the charge of hit and run. (R.225.)

### **Pre-Trial Motions**

Prior to trial, the court heard a number of motions, including a motion to suppress and *Daubert* motions regarding both State and Defense experts. Of relevance to this appeal are the facts from the evidentiary hearings and the court's rulings regarding the suppression motion and excluding Defense Expert Dr. Lawrence White.

#### **Motion to Suppress**

On February 22, 2016, the Defense filed a motion to suppress all statements that Mr. Dobbs made in response to custodial interrogation. (R.35.) The grounds were that law enforcement violated Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966) and that any later statements made after law enforcement gave the required warning were involuntary. Therefore, all of the statements obtained by law enforcement were in violation of Mr. Dobbs' Constitutional Rights under the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments. The court held evidentiary hearings on June 17 and June 21, 2016. (R.253 The pertinent facts from the hearings are as and 254.) follows.

Officer Milton testified he was the first police officer to have contact with Timothy Dobbs on September 5, 2015, the date of the accident. He was dispatched to the scene of a hit and run motor vehicle accident with a pedestrian casualty at approximately 7:30 a.m. Witnesses described the vehicle involved as a dark colored or black van. (R.253:5-6.) Officer Milton said he observed a dark colored pickup truck with a topper with damage and a flat front driver's side tire a few blocks from the reported accident. Based on that information he suspected that it was the hit and run vehicle. (R.253:6-7.) Thus, he positioned his squad car to prevent the driver from driving away. (R.253:8.)

Officer Milton was driving a fully marked squad vehicle with a light bar and was wearing a regular police uniform with a utility belt, including gun and Taser. (R.253:37.) After stopping and blocking the truck with his squad car, he approached the driver's side door and verbally instructed the driver, Mr. Dobbs, to show his hands and exit the vehicle. (R.253:8-9, 39.) He then immediately placed him in handcuffs and put him in the rear seat of his squad car. (R.253:9, 39.)

Officer Milton told Timothy Dobbs that he was being detained for an accident investigation, but did not tell him that he was under arrest. (R.253:11.) Officer Milton questioned Mr. Dobbs about some scratches and bruises on his face and also noted his arm was in a sling. (R.253:11-12.) Mr. Dobbs had a gauze bandage on his hand, but Officer Milton was able to successfully handcuff him. (R.253:40) Mr. Dobbs was wearing shorts, shoes, but no shirt. (R.253:13.) detaining him, Officer Milton asked Dobbs questions about his identification as well as information about from where he was coming and to where he was going. (R.253:13.) Mr. Dobbs told Officer Milton he was adjusting the sling on his arm, lost control of the vehicle and hit the curb, causing damage to his vehicle. (R.253:14.) At some point during this initial questioning, Officer Milton informed Mr. Dobbs that

he was suspected of striking a person, but did not tell him that the person had been killed or even injured. (R.253:14, 41.) Mr. Dobbs asked Officer Milton about the person's condition, but Officer Milton withheld that information. (R.253:66.) During this initial stop, Officer Milton noted an air duster canister in the front console area of Dobbs' vehicle, two dents in the hood of the truck, and a tree branch stuck near the hood. (R.253:16.)

Officer Milton questioned Mr. Dobbs without a Miranda warning while he was handcuffed and locked in the rear of the squad vehicle. (R.253:43-44.) Mr. Dobbs answered questions, including that he suffered from anxiety and depression for which he takes medication, that he takes pain killers for his hand injury, but he had not had any of his medication that morning. (R.253:45-46.) The audio recording from Officer Milton's squad video indicated that Mr. Dobbs answered questions about prior damage to his vehicle, his depression and anxiety, his broken hand, and that he remembered hitting the curb but did not remember anything else. (R.51.) After Officer Milton informed him that a pedestrian was involved, Mr. Dobbs continually asked for more information about the situation and whether anyone had actually been injured. (Id.) Mr. Dobbs also said shortly before 8:25 a.m. that the pain in his hand was killing him and he did not take his pain medication that morning. (*Id.*)

After discussing with a traffic specialist that inhalant effects dissipate quickly, Officer Milton determined he should have Mr. Dobbs perform field sobriety tests. (R.253:19-20.) Mr. Dobbs was still in the backseat of the squad car and handcuffed at that time. (R.253:20.) At about 8:20 a.m., close to one hour after the initial call, Officer Milton removed the cuffs and started the field sobriety testing. (R.253:21, 43.) After the testing was completed, Officer Milton requested that Mr. Dobbs submit to a sample of his blood. (R.253:21-22.) Although Mr. Dobbs initially was reluctant to submit to the blood test, due to a fear of needles, he eventually agreed if he would be able to have a breath test afterward. (R.253:23.)

Officer Milton transported Mr. Dobbs to Meriter Hospital for the blood test. They arrived at about 9:08 a.m. Officer Milton then read the Informing the Accused Form to Dobbs at 9:24 a.m. (R.253:23-24, 49.) Afterwards, Mr. Dobbs again asked questions about an alternative test. Officer Milton agreed to do the alternative evidentiary breath test after Mr. Dobbs submitted to the blood test. (R.253:24-25.) The blood was drawn at about 9:33 a.m. (R.253:50.)

While still at Meriter Hospital, additional officers responded and had Mr. Dobbs perform further tests. (R.253:26.) One of the officers was Officer Pine. (R.253:78-79.) Officer Pine called another DRE trained officer to assist. (R.253:79-80.) Officer Pine began the evaluation at about 9:47 a.m. (R.253:82.) For the first time that morning, Officer Pine read Mr. Dobbs a Miranda warning at 10:19 a.m. almost three hours after Officer Milton initially detained him. Mr. Dobbs was cooperative and followed (R.253:84.) directions, but was often emotional. (R.253:85-86.) Officer Pine testified Mr. Dobbs complained of a pain in his right hand, which he had recently broken and on which he had Mr. Dobbs said his hand was surgery. (R.253:86-87.) infected, removed the bandage, and showed Officer Pine two metal rods sticking out of his hand. (R.253:87.) Officer Pine testified that it was swollen, very red, and appeared infected. (R.253:87.) Mr. Dobbs was then given a preliminary breath test which showed .000 alcohol concentration in his system. (R.253:27.)

While sitting in the squad vehicle at Meriter Hospital following Officer Pine's examination, Officer Milton read Mr. Dobbs the *Miranda* warnings and asked him if he would be willing to answer questions. (R.253:28) That was the first time Officer Milton informed Mr. Dobbs of his rights. (R.253:54). Officer Milton testified that he told Mr. Dobbs that he was under arrest, that the pedestrian had died, and that he wanted to conduct an interview with him. (R.253:55-56.) Officer Milton informed Mr. Dobbs that the interview was

going to be recorded, and he was being arrested for homicide for negligent operation of a motor vehicle because the pedestrian died. (R.253:29, 56.) Mr. Dobbs was emotional and began to cry. He became so hysterical that several minutes passed before Officer Milton could continue with the questioning. (R.253:29-30.) Officer Milton testified that he specifically withheld the information that the pedestrian had died because he did not want to create additional hardship for Mr. Dobbs emotionally and wanted to conduct his investigation without Mr. Dobbs' emotions interfering. Officer Milton was afraid Mr. Dobbs' (R.253:66-67.) emotional state would detrimentally impact the investigation if he learned of the death of the pedestrian. (R.253:67.)

The entire interrogation of Mr. Dobbs in Officer Milton's squad car at Meriter Hospital was recorded. Mr. Dobbs answered Officer Milton's (R.253:37-38.) questions about the events leading up to the accident that morning. Officer Milton questioned Mr. Dobbs about the canister of air duster found in his vehicle, which eventually led to Mr. Dobbs making a statement that he had been huffing while driving, although he initially stated he had not huffed while driving. (R.253:30-31.) At times during the questioning, Mr. Dobbs was so distressed that Officer Milton had to pause because Mr. Dobbs was crying and could not answer. (R.253:56-57.) Mr. Dobbs also had loud, emotional outbursts during this time. (R.253:57.) He still was not wearing a shirt. (R.253:57.)

The audio recording from the interview was admitted into evidence at the hearing and later considered by the court. (R.253:64-65; R.52.) As soon as Officer Milton informed Mr. Dobbs that the person he hit died, Mr. Dobbs began to cry and express his distress. (R.52.) Officer Milton also informed him that the charges would include homicide by negligent use of a vehicle. (Id.) Officer Milton said that he did not the know details from the scene but affirmed Mr. Dobbs was under arrest, and his statement was going to be recorded. (Id.) Mr. Dobbs can be heard crying. (Id.) After

Officer Milton read the *Miranda* rights waiver to Mr. Dobbs, he had to ask Mr. Dobbs to respond verbally, as he continued to cry. (Id.) Officer Milton then proceeded to question Mr. Dobbs for over an hour. During the interrogation, Mr. Dobbs continued to cry and often was unable to answer questions. (Id.) He also told Officer Milton that he had not slept in about forty hours. (*Id.*)

Officer Milton testified that Mr. Dobbs was so distraught that a turning point came when he questioned Mr. Dobbs about being untruthful. It was then that Mr. Dobbs changed his answer to Officer Milton's question about huffing while driving. (R.253:58-59.) Mr. Dobbs was so upset that he killed someone that he said he did not care what happened to him. (R.253:61-62.)

questioning Mr. Dobbs, Officer Milton After transported him to the City County Building garage so Officer Fleischauer could continue the questioning and ask Mr. Dobbs to sign various consent forms. (R.253:33.) Officer Fleischauer talked with Mr. Dobbs in the basement of the City County Building at about 1:30 p.m.—six hours after the Mr. Dobbs told Officer (R.254:156-57.) accident. Fleischauer he was willing to answer a "couple more questions." (R.254:157.) Mr. Dobbs was not handcuffed but Officer Fleischauer testified that he was very sad and crying. (R.254:157-158.) Answering questions, Mr. Dobbs said he had been huffing Dust-Off spray as pain management in addition to using an antidepressant and prescribed pain medication. (R.254:158.) Mr. Dobbs again stated his hand was infected, and the officer observed it was visibly swollen and reddened. (R.254:161-62.) Officer Milton informed Officer Fleischauer that Mr. Dobbs admitted to huffing at the time of the crash. (R.254:161.) Mr. Dobbs told Officer Fleischauer he got a good deal on Dust-Off at Menards and opened one of the canisters while driving home, inhaled the substance and lost consciousness. (R.254:159) Mr. Dobbs also told Officer Fleischauer he wished he could trade places with the pedestrian who had been hit and wanted to cooperate

fully. (R.254:160-61.) Officer Fleischauer confirmed Mr. Dobbs was on antidepressants as well. (R.254:162.)

Following the questioning by Officer Fleischauer, Officer Milton transported Mr. Dobbs to the Public Safety Building to book him and process him into the jail. (R.253:36, 62.) The jail, however, refused to accept him due to concerns about his medical condition. (R.253:62-63.) The jail required that he return to the hospital for medical clearance. (R.253:63.)

Officer VanHove then transported Mr. Dobbs back to Meriter Hospital at about 2:14 p.m. (R.253:97.) During the transport, Officer VanHove asked Mr. Dobbs about the surgery on his hand. (R.253:98.) Mr. Dobbs responded "he couldn't talk right now, because he just killed a man." (R.253:98.) At the hospital, Mr. Dobbs said he was going to refuse treatment because he wanted his infection to go septic so that he would die. (R.253:98-99.) Mr. Dobbs was visibly upset, very distraught, and periodically crying. (R.253:100.) While at Meriter, Officer VanHove overheard Mr. Dobbs tell a nurse that he had taken a puff of Dust-Off and killed a man. (R.253:99.) He further told the nurse that he had run over the person with his vehicle. (Id.) At Meriter, the doctor was unable to medically clear him for jail entry and at about 5:00 p.m. he was transported to St. Mary's Hospital where his surgery previously had been done. (R.253:105.)

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