Filed 03-06-2020

Page 1 of 47

RECEIVED 03-06-2020 CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2018AP319-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

TIMOTHY E. DOBBS,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

ON REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS AFFIRMING A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE DANE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE CLAYTON PATRICK KAWSKI, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

MICHAEL C. SANDERS Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1030550

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

As the circuit court found, Dobbs's statements were "voluntary and not the product of coercion in any degree." (R. 67:4.) And as the court of appeals concluded, Dobbs has not identified any improper or coercive police conduct. (P-App. 106). There is no evidence of improper or coercive police conduct, so all of Dobbs's statements were voluntary.

B. Dobbs's statements after he waived his *Miranda* rights were properly admitted.

1. Dobbs's post-*Miranda* confessions during interrogation were properly admitted.

Dobbs confessed to Officer Milton and Officer Fleischauer that he huffed while driving. (R. 67:4.) When Dobbs was interviewed by Officer Milton, he "admitted to huffing the Dust-off while driving which caused him to pass out and lose control of the vehicle." (R. 67:3.) Then, when he was interviewed by Officer Paul Fleischauer, Dobbs "admitted to huffing the Dust-Off while driving which caused him to pass out." (R. 67:3.) Dobbs made these confessions after he was twice read the *Miranda* warnings and twice agreed to answer questions. Dobbs challenged the admission of his post-*Miranda* statements only on the ground that they were not voluntary. (R. 35:2, 4; Dobbs's Br. 31–35.) He did claim that his post-*Miranda* statements were coerced. Because the statements did not result from improper or coercive police conduct, they were voluntary. Accordingly, Dobbs's post-*Miranda* statements were properly admitted.

2. Dobbs's post-*Miranda* statements not during interrogation were properly admitted.

After confessing to both Officer Milton and Officer Fleischauer under questioning, Dobbs made many numerous other incriminating statements spontaneously. While Officer Van Hove was driving Dobbs to the hospital, Dobbs said that he had just killed a man. (R. 268:174.) While at the hospital, Officer Van Hove heard Dobbs, unprompted by a question, say twice that he had "taken a puff of DustOff and had killed a man" by striking him with his vehicle. (R. 268:178.) Officer Van Hove also heard Dobbs tell his father that he had bought Dust-Off at Menards and was traveling home when he took a puff of it, went over the curb, and killed a man. (R. 268:182.)

The officers who guarded Dobbs's hospital room heard him make incriminating statements. Officer Bryan Dyer heard Dobbs say, "I killed someone," and that he had been huffing for two weeks, he went to Menards and purchased some duster to huff, and he took one puff and passed out. (R. 268:200–02.) Officer Linda Baehmann heard Dobbs say he had taken one puff to get relief from an injury and struck a man, but he must have passed out because he did not remember it. (R. 268:89.) And when Officer Dean Baldukas delivered paperwork to Dobbs, he heard Dobbs say he blew "00.00 for a guy," and that he "took a puff from a duster." (R. 268:193–94.) None of these statements was subject to *Miranda*, which "is called to duty whenever the State interrogates a suspect in police custody," *Harris*, 374 Wis. 2d 271, ¶ 11, because none of the officers questioned him. (R. 67:3.) And as explained above, each of these statements was voluntary. Because Dobbs challenges the admission of these statements only on the ground that they were not voluntary (R. 35:2, 4; Dobbs's Br. 31–35), his claim that they were improperly admitted fails.

C. Dobbs's statements before he waived his *Miranda* rights probably should have been suppressed.

1. A suspect who is interrogated while in custody is entitled to *Miranda* warnings.

The protection against self-incrimination under both the United States Constitution and the Wisconsin Constitution "is called to duty whenever the State interrogates a suspect in police custody." *Harris*, 374 Wis. 2d 271, ¶ 11. Law enforcement is required "to inform suspects of their rights to remain silent and to have an attorney present during custodial interrogations." *Bartelt*, 379 Wis. 2d 588, ¶ 27 (citing *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436, 458 (1966)).

"[T]he *Miranda* safeguards come into play whenever a person in custody is subjected to either express questioning or its functional equivalent." *Rhode Island v. Innis*, 446 U.S. 291, 300 (1980). "[B]efore conducting an in-custody interrogation," a law enforcement officer is required "to formally instruct the suspect of his constitutional rights and then conduct themselves according to how he elects to preserve or waive them." *Harris*, 374 Wis. 2d 271, ¶ 13.

A person is in custody for *Miranda* purposes when there is "a formal arrest or restraint on freedom of movement of a degree associated with a formal arrest." State v. Lonkoski, 2013 WI 30, ¶ 27, 346 Wis. 2d 523, 828 N.W.2d 552 (citation omitted); Bartelt, 379 Wis. 2d 588, ¶ 35; State v. Morgan, 2002 WI App 124, ¶ 16, 254 Wis. 2d 602, 648 N.W.2d 23.⁴ A court determines objectively whether a person was in custody under the totality of circumstances, considering whether "a reasonable person would not feel free to terminate the interview and leave the scene." Bartelt, 379 Wis. 2d 588, ¶ 31 (quoting State v. Martin, 2012 WI 96, ¶ 33, 343 Wis. 2d 278, 816 N.W.2d 270).

Factors include "the degree of restraint; the purpose, place, and length of the interrogation; and what has been communicated by police officers." *Id.* ¶ 32. When assessing the degree of restraint, courts consider "whether the suspect is handcuffed, whether a weapon is drawn, whether a frisk is performed, the manner in which the suspect is restrained, whether the suspect is moved to another location, whether questioning took place in a police vehicle, and the number of officers involved." *Id.* (quoting *Morgan*, 254 Wis. 2d 602, ¶ 12.

Whether the questioning of a person who is in custody constitutes interrogation depends on "the nature of the information the question is trying to reach." *Harris*, 374 Wis. 2d 271, ¶ 17. "If that information has no potential to incriminate the suspect, the question requires no *Miranda* warnings." *Id.* However, if the question is "designed to elicit incriminatory admissions," the answer to that question must be suppressed. *Id.* ¶¶ 15–16.

⁴ This Court has ordered the parties to address whether *Morgan* should be overruled. *Morgan* appears to accurately distinguish between custody under the Fourth Amendment and custody under the Fifth Amendment, and this Court relied on it in *State v. Bartelt*, 2018 WI 16, ¶ 32, 379 Wis. 2d 588, 906 N.W.2d 684. The State does not believe that *Morgan* needs to be overruled.

2. Some of the questions Dobbs was asked when he was in custody in the squad car were inquisitorial; his responses therefore should have been suppressed.

Officer Milton stopped the truck Dobbs was driving because it "fit the description of the hit and run vehicle and had significant visible damage to the front end, including a completely deflated front driver's tire and tree branches imbedded on the truck." (R. 67:1.) Officer Milton was the only officer on the scene, so he ordered Dobbs out of his truck, handcuffed him, and placed him in the back of his squad car. (R. 67:2; 270:77, 80.) Officer Milton told Dobbs that he was being detained as part of an accident investigation. (R. 67:2.)

The circuit court concluded that this was a detention for investigative purposes, but not a custodial arrest. (R. 67:4.) The court found that Officer Milton asking Dobbs "who he was, where he was coming from, where he was going and what happened to his truck," "was not a criminal interrogation requiring a *Miranda* warning." (R. 67:4.)

On appeal, Dobbs argued that he was in custody when Officer Milton "placed him in handcuffs, put him in the back of the squad car, and told him he was being 'detained." (Dobbs's Court of Appeals Br. 21, 23.) The court of appeals rejected Dobbs's argument, relying on *State v. Blatterman*, 2015 WI 46, ¶ 30, 362 Wis. 2d 138, 864 N.W.2d 26. The court concluded that if the defendant in *Blatterman* was not under arrest when he was placed in a squad car in handcuffs, Dobbs similarly was not in *Miranda* custody when he was placed in a squad car in handcuffs and told he was being detained. (P-App. 104.)

The circuit court and court of appeals were correct that the stop began as a temporary investigation detention. Under *Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1, 22 (1968), a police officer may, under certain circumstances, temporarily detain a person "for purposes of investigating possible criminal behavior even though there is not probable cause to make an arrest." The *Terry* standard is codified in Wisconsin Stat. § 968.24, which provides that an officer may conduct a temporary investigatory detention when "the officer reasonably suspects that a person is committing, has committed, or is about to commit a crime. The statute authorizes officers to "demand the name and address of the person and an explanation of the person's conduct." Wis. Stat. § 968.24.

A police officer who detains a person for investigatory purposes is not required to read the person the *Miranda* warnings. But police cannot "seek to verify their suspicions by means that approach the conditions of arrest." *Blatterman*, 362 Wis. 2d 138, ¶ 20 (citing *Florida v. Royer*, 460 U.S. 491, 499 (1983)). "Consequently, the detention 'must be temporary and last no longer than is necessary to effectuate the purpose of the stop." *Id.* (quoting *Royer*, 460 U.S. at 500). And a detained person who is "in custody" for Fifth Amendment purposes is entitled to *Miranda* warnings. *State v. Gruen*, 218 Wis. 2d 581, 593, 582 N.W.2d 728 (Ct. App. 1998); *Morgan*, 254 Wis. 2d 602, 617–18.

A reasonable person in Dobbs's position would not have felt free to terminate the encounter and leave the scene. *Bartelt*, 379 Wis. 2d 588, ¶ 31. But that is true of any traffic stop—any temporary investigative detention. *Berkemer v. McCarty*, 468 U.S. 420, 436–37 (1984). And persons temporarily detained for ordinary traffic stops "are not 'in custody' for the purposes of *Miranda*." *Id.* at 440.

Officer Milton was the only officer present. He told Dobbs that he was being detained rather than arrested, and Dobbs understood that he had not been arrested—he asked Officer Milton during the field sobriety tests if he was going to be arrested. (R. 267:126, 245.) However, a person is in custody for *Miranda* when there is a "restraint on freedom of movement of a degree associated with a formal arrest." *Lonkoski*, 346 Wis. 2d 523, ¶ 27; *Bartelt*, 379 Wis. 2d 588, ¶ 35. Dobbs was frisked and handcuffed, and the detention in the squad car took around one hour. At some point, the detention probably became custodial.

Even if Dobbs was in custody, most of the questions Officer Milton asked him were not inquisitorial. Dobbs points out that Officer Milton asked him for identification, where he was coming and where he was going, and how he broke his hand. (Dobbs's Br. 6–7.) Those questions were not "designed to elicit incriminatory admissions" from a person in custody. *Harris*, 374 Wis. 2d 271, ¶¶ 16–17 (citation omitted). Accordingly, they were not inquisitorial.

Officer Milton also asked Dobbs about damage to his vehicle, his depression and anxiety, and injuries to his face. (Dobbs's Br. 6–7.) Those questions were at least arguably inquisitorial. Dobbs's responses to those questions perhaps should have been suppressed. *Id.* However, even if Dobbs's statements in response to inquisitorial questions before he waived his *Miranda* rights should have been suppressed, it made no difference because Dobbs's statements were not incriminating. And Dobbs's incriminating post-*Miranda* statements were still properly admitted.

D. Dobbs's post-*Miranda* statements were properly admitted even if his pre-*Miranda* statements were not.

Even if Dobbs's statements to police while he was initially in the squad car—before he waived his *Miranda* rights—should have been suppressed, his statements to police after he waived his *Miranda* rights were properly admitted at trial.

When law enforcement fails to administer the *Miranda* warnings to a defendant who makes a statement while in custody, requiring suppression of the statement, a subsequent statement after waiver of Miranda rights need not be suppressed unless the second statement was coerced. Oregon v. Elstad, 470 U.S. 298, 309 (1985). "[Albsent deliberately coercive or improper tactics in obtaining the initial statement. the mere fact that a suspect has made an unwarned admission does not warrant a presumption of compulsion." Id. at 314. Therefore, "[a] subsequent administration of Miranda warnings to a suspect who has given a voluntary but unwarned statement ordinarily should suffice to remove the conditions that precluded admission of the earlier statement." Id. The "admissibility of any subsequent statement should turn in these circumstances solely on whether it is knowingly and voluntarily made." Id.

Dobbs probably was in custody when he was in the squad car in handcuffs, and police probably should have administered the *Miranda* warnings before questioning him. But as the circuit court recognized, there is no evidence of coercion by police in regard to any of Dobbs's statements, before or after he waived his *Miranda* rights. Therefore, even if Dobbs's pre-*Miranda* statements should have been suppressed, his voluntary statements after he waived his *Miranda* rights.

E. Any error in admitting Dobbs's pre-*Miranda* statements was harmless.

An error is harmless if it is "clear beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have found the defendant guilty absent the error." *State v. Mayo*, 2007 WI 78, ¶ 47, 301 Wis. 2d 642, 734 N.W.2d 115. To show that an error is harmless, the beneficiary of the error must prove "beyond a reasonable doubt that the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict obtained." *Id.* (citation omitted).

The jury verdict in this case did not rely on Dobbs's pre-Miranda statements—those statements were not incriminating or in any way important. The jury heard that Dobbs told Officer Milton "he had gone to Menards and he was on his way home." (R. 267:83.) But an officer testified he searched Dobbs's truck and found a Menards receipt for UltraDuster dated September 5. (R. 268:28–29.)

Dobbs "admitted to having hit a curb." (R. 267:83.) But Rochelle Sanders witnessed the crash and testified about it. (R. 266:212, 216.) The jury heard that Dobbs had a few beers the previous evening. (R. 267:84.) But it also heard that testing revealed no alcohol in his system. (R. 269:156.) The jury heard that Dobbs "suffered from depression and anxiety and he took medications for those conditions, as well as painkillers," but that he hadn't taken his painkillers. (R. 267:84–85.) Dobbs's medical conditions and prescriptions were crucial to his defense that he crashed because of the pain he felt when he removed his splint. The jury heard that Dobbs told Officer Milton that "none of the injuries on his face were as a result of the accident," and he had not sustained any injuries in the crash. (R. 267:99–100.) But the jury heard that Officer Milton observed Dobbs's injuries. (R. 267:99.) When Dobbs was injured made no difference.

The only disputed issue at trial in regard to the homicide by intoxicated use of a vehicle charge was the cause of the crash. The jury heard that after he waived his Miranda rights, Dobbs confessed numerous times to having huffed right before he crashed. As explained above, many of Dobbs's confessions were unquestionably admissible evidence because Dobbs did not make them in response to any questioning by police. Indeed, Dobbs made some of those confessions spontaneously to family and hospital staff. The jury also heard Dobbs testify that he had been huffing for two weeks, that he purchased ten cans of Dust-Off for pain management that morning, that he "tested" a can and then put the can in the console next to him, and that on the way home he felt extreme pain. And then he lost consciousness and crashed his truck. Any reasonable juror would find that Dobbs huffed the air duster he had just purchased. And Amy Miles testified that an initial screening of Dobbs's blood indicated the presence of DFE, and that Dobbs's driving behavior was consistent with using an inhalant and losing consciousness. Any error in admitting Dobbs's pre-*Miranda* statements was harmless.

CONCLUSION

This Court should affirm the court of appeals' decision.